RECEIVED

MAY 20 2019

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS  
APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5631 (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 27, 2019)

Appellate Case No. 2019-000840

THE STATE, ..... PETITIONER,

v.

HEATHER ELIZABETH SIMS, ..... RESPONDENT.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3922

JIMMY RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1276

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON CERTIORARI

- I. The Court of Appeals erred in finding the trial judge improperly charged the jury on voluntary manslaughter because: (1) the Court of Appeals, by viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Respondent, applied the incorrect standard of review; (2) the court erroneously found the existence of “four walls and a door” between a defendant and the victim are required for a finding of voluntary manslaughter, rather than considering the totality of the facts of the case; (3) the court failed to consider Respondent’s inconsistent statements to the 9-1-1 operator and police officers, both occurring within hours of the shooting; and (4) the testimony of Brown, in which the victim initiated a physical altercation but Respondent armed herself and caused the fatal shooting was “any evidence” justifying the voluntary manslaughter charge.
  
- II. The Court of Appeals erred in finding Petitioner unable to retry Respondent on the charge of involuntary manslaughter because the jury, presumed to have followed the trial judge’s instructions, found Respondent guilty of voluntary manslaughter and did not rule on the involuntary manslaughter charge

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 21, 2013, Respondent was indicted for murder. (2013-GS-26-05243). On November 9–20, 2015, Respondent proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, circuit court judge. L. Morgan Martin, Esquire represented Respondent; Assistant Solicitor Nancy Livesay represented the State. The jury found Respondent guilty of voluntary manslaughter. The trial judge sentenced her to twenty-five years' incarceration, suspended to ten years' incarceration and five years' probation. Respondent then timely filed and perfected an appeal.

On February 27, 2019, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion in which it reversed Heather Sims's conviction for voluntary manslaughter. State v. Sims, Op. No. 5631 (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 27, 2019) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 9 at 109). In reversing Sims's conviction, the court held the trial judge erred in instructing the jury on the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter, claiming that when viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Sims, there was no evidence in the record supporting such charge. Furthermore, the court held Sims could not be retried on the lesser-included charge of involuntary manslaughter because the jury, on the single verdict form, checked the "guilty" verdict for voluntary manslaughter but the "not guilty" verdict for murder and involuntary manslaughter, finding the jury implicitly acquitted Sims of both charges. Pursuant to Rule 221(a), SCACR, Respondent, the State, petitioned for rehearing, arguing because the court misapprehended and overlooked the facts, law, and standard of review in reaching its rulings on both issues.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### The State's Case

At trial, the State focused a large portion of its case unraveling Sims's varying narratives of the shooting. As early as her 9-1-1 call, Sims would give differing, often contradictory descriptions of the events surrounding Victim's death. She initially told the 9-1-1 operator she and Victim got into an argument, then he "had a wrench in his hand and he **tried** to stab [Sims] but [she] shot him." When the dispatcher asked Sims what she used to shoot Victim, she again stated she grabbed a "nine millimeter" from a drawer and shot him because "he was coming at [her]." Throughout the call, Victim made additional, often inconsistent statements about the attack, including: (1) Victim went after her with both a knife and wrench in his hands; (2) he stabbed her before she shot him; (3) Sims had not initially noticed it, but Victim "barely got [her]" with the knife before she shot him; (4) Victim slapped her; (5) she "didn't mean" to shoot Victim; and (6) the knife was "laying [on] the floor where . . . [Victim] dropped it." (State's Exhibit 4).

Ronnie Causey, Sims's father, arrived while Sims was on the phone with the 9-1-1 operator. He noted the knife was **in** Victim's hand. Both Sims and Causey told the operator Sims was performing CPR on Victim. The operator warned both of them to not touch the knife; which Causey repeated to Sims several additional times. Causey also told Heather to stop wiping up blood. The call ended when the first officers arrived at the scene. (State's Exhibit 4).

Sims also gave varying descriptions of the attack in her hospital interview performed hours after the shooting. Her most notable claims were: (1) she grabbed the gun because Victim was in her face and she felt threatened; (2) when she grabbed the gun, Sims did not know whether she actually needed it because she felt only "a little threatened"; (2) Victim walked

toward her with the knife only after seeing her grab the gun; (3) Victim started swinging the knife after seeing her grab the gun; (4) Sims fired the fatal shot without knowing whether Victim had actually "hit her"; (5) she did feel Victim stab her, and shot him afterwards; (6) she grabbed the gun after Victim cut her arm while swinging the knife or the pliers; (7) Victim instigated the situation when he held the knife in her face and called her names; (8) Victim was holding a knife and Sims's phone in her hands; (9) Sims grabbed the gun only after Victim went after her with the knife; (10) Victim threatened to "knock the teeth" out of Sims; (11) Sims could, and should, have left the home; and (12) Sims could not have escaped, because Victim was fast and she feared she would get stabbed in the back if she turned her back. (State's Exhibit 2; App.pp.1765–1811).

Allyson Brown, a friend and employee of Sims's, testified Sims described the attack to her within days of the event and included a demonstration of the event in the same bathroom she shot Victim. She recounted Sims claimed the physical confrontation with Victim occurred when he attempted to take her cell phone. Sims also told Brown: (1) Victim put his arms around her trying to get her phone; (2) Victim bit Sims's finger to force her to drop the phone; (3) Sims dropped the cell phone and it slid across the floor; (4) when Victim walked over to the phone to retrieve it, Sims realized she had been cut and retrieved the gun from the bathroom drawer; (5) Victim turned around and realized Sims was armed; (6) Sims asked Victim what he was "going to do" with the knife, to which he replied he was not "going to do anything"; (7) Victim asked Sims what she was "going to do" with the gun, to which she only replied, "I want you to stop what you are doing right now"; and (8) Victim lunged at her with a knife in his hands, at which point Sims shot him. (App.p.951, line 17–p.959, line 5).

Dr. Werner Spitz, an expert in forensic pathology, reviewed Sims's case and testified: (1) Sims was at least two feet away from Victim when she shot him; and (2) Sims's injuries were self-inflicted, and he determined such based on the presence of a "hesitation mark,"<sup>1</sup> along with the location and superficial nature of Sims's wounds. (App.p.644, line 7–p.662, line 7).

Additionally, the State presented evidence Victim was not holding the knife at the time of the shooting. Officers Pete Cestare and Jill Domogauer testified the knife in Victim's hands was "upside down," with the blade pointing "up" towards Victim. Additionally, the hand holding the knife was covered in Victim's blood, which likely came from him grabbing his wound after the shooting. Predictably, the side of the knife handle resting in the hand was covered in Victim's blood. However, the side of the handle facing up was not. According to SLED agent Teresa Sutton, an expert in blood stain pattern analysis, the "clean" side of the handle should have been covered in blood had Victim held the knife in his hands from the time of the attack to the moment he lost consciousness. Given the orientation of the knife, Officer Sutton concluded Victim was likely not holding the knife at the time he touched his chest wound. (App.p.283, line 15–p.284, line 17; p.317, line 8–p.323, line 13; p.483, line 21–p.487, line 12; p.742, line 22–p.764, line 22).

#### Sims's Case

Sims testified she and Victim had experienced marital difficulties for the last year of their marriage. She claimed their arguments included yelling and threats of violence, including an altercation the year before the shooting during which Sims and Victim hit each other. The fight ended with both parties placing calls for help: Sims called 9-1-1 and Victim called Causey.

---

<sup>1</sup> As explained by Dr. Spitz, a "hesitation mark" is a self-inflicted cut or scratch common in suicide victims and other self-harm scenarios. When a person attempts to cut herself, such efforts conflict with her natural aversion to injury. As a result, the first cut is relatively minor. Dr. Spitz explained hesitation marks are critical evidence in suicide investigations. (App.p.652, line 21–p.656, line 10; p.661, line 12–p.662, line 7).

During the last few weeks of their marriage, she and Victim sought marriage counseling in an attempt to rebuild their relationship. (App.p.1346, line 12–p.1353, line 1; p.1356, line 21–p.1358, line 18).

Sims explained Victim was in a foul mood on the day of the shooting, arguing with her throughout the day. The fighting escalated when Sims was in the bathroom and Victim entered to fix a toilet chain. Victim, still angry from their earlier arguments, initiated another altercation. He accused Sims of avoiding appointments with their marriage counselor, accusing Sims of wanting to separate and claiming he did not want “to be married to a damn liar.” Sims grabbed her phone to prove scheduling conflicts with a counseling appointment, at which time Victim and Sims fought for physical control of the phone. Victim won control over the phone, and began yelling at her and calling her names. While holding both the phone and a knife, Victim threatened to “knock the teeth” out of Sims’s head. Scared, Sims backed away from Victim and grabbed the gun stashed in the bathroom drawer. She claimed the presence of the gun only further enraged Victim, who made additional threats and then lunged at her. Sims “shot [Victim] out of a reaction.” She claimed she “didn’t think, nor did [she] ever want to do that, but it was a reaction because [she] was scared.” After shooting Victim, she called 9-1-1 and began CPR. She admitted to wiping up some of the blood, but claimed it was a reflex and she failed to appreciate the consequences of such action. She also conceded she may have picked up the knife and placed it back into Victim’s hand, and that she removed his cell phone from his pocket, attempted to use it, and moved it out of the bathroom. (App.p.1366, line 25–p.1381, line 6).

Trial counsel also sought to introduce evidence the toilet chain in Sims’s bathroom was, in fact, in need of repair around the time of shooting to further support his theory of the case. The State acknowledged that officers, on a trip to Sims’s home days after crime, noticed the

toilet chain was in need of repair. The parties stipulated the toilet was in need of repair and such stipulation was presented to the jury. (App.p.1480, line 15–p.1484, line 19; p.1537, line 11–p.1538, line 4; p.1552, lines 13–21).

#### Voluntary Manslaughter Charge

At the close of the State’s case, trial counsel made a motion for directed verdict claiming the State failed to provide evidence of malice aforethought. The trial judge denied the motion, believing the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, supported murder. At the close of Sims’s case, trial counsel renewed his motion for a directed verdict on the murder charge. He argued the State failed to charge Sims with voluntary manslaughter and involuntary manslaughter and claimed the State failed to present any evidence of malice aforethought. Again, the trial judge denied the motion. (App.p.1003, line 14–p.1017, line 5; p.1478, line 13–p.1480, line 9).

Shortly thereafter, the trial judge initiated a discussion on proposed jury charges and the parties argued the propriety of charging voluntary and involuntary manslaughter. The State argued involuntary manslaughter should not be charged because it believed no evidence was presented “that would suggest this was in any form or fashion accidental.” Trial counsel claimed he could not find evidence in the record supporting the lesser-included charges, but stated “[he] under[stood] [the trial judge’s] ruling.” (App.p.1489, line 7–p.1490, line 4; p.1540, line 13–p.1541, line 25; p.1543, lines 7–23; p.1631, lines 5–16).

The trial judge found the charges were proper, claiming there was evidence at trial supporting both. After both parties presented their closing statements, trial counsel again requested the trial judge to abstain from charging voluntary manslaughter and involuntary manslaughter. The State disagreed, arguing there was evidence in the record supporting both

charges. The trial judge charged murder, voluntary manslaughter, involuntary manslaughter, and self-defense. (App.p.1542, lines 1–19; p.1631, lines 5–21; p.1633, line 2–p.1653, line 20).

After the jury found Sims guilty of voluntary manslaughter, trial counsel filed a motion for a new trial, arguing there was insufficient evidence supporting the verdict. He argued the evidence presented at trial supported self-defense but not manslaughter because there was no evidence of sudden heat of passion. He claimed evidence of her fear was not enough, noting fear “does not end the inquiry because the fact that someone was afraid does not necessarily constitute evidence that they lost control and succumbed to an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.” He argued the State focused its case on the theory that she planned the murder and acted with malice aforethought, and therefore the jury was forced to either find her innocent or guilty of murder. He emphasized Sims testified she shot the gun out of reaction because she was scared. (App.p.1709, line 18–p.1730, line 4).

The State disagreed with trial counsel’s analysis. The State admitted its dominant theory of the case was murder, but there was evidence in the record justifying the manslaughter charge and thus the charge was proper. It pointed out Sims testified to a heated argument with Victim throughout the day of and immediately before the shooting. It noted Sims admitted in several of her statements that she grabbed the gun before Sims lunged at her with the knife and Sims’s actions immediately after the shooting, including her 9-1-1 call and attempts to perform CPR were evidence she acted in a heat of passion and immediately regretted her decision to shoot Victim. (App.p.1732, line 16–p.1740, line 1; p.1751, line 21–p.1752, line 14).

The trial judge denied the motion for a new trial. (App.pp.10–12).

## CERTIORARI

Pursuant to Rule 242(b), SCACR, this Court may, in its sound judicial discretion, grant a writ of certiorari for any “special and important reasons” found within the case or the opinion of the South Carolina Court of Appeals. While not an exhaustive list, the rule mentions five situations which support this Court’s review of a case: (1) novel questions of law; (2) the decision of the Court of Appeals included a dissent; (3) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a prior decision of this Court; (4) substantial constitutional issues are directly involved; and (5) a federal question is included and the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a prior decision of the United States Supreme Court.

The State notes that the Court of Appeals’ opinion presents one such substantial reason for this Court to grant certiorari: it appears to directly contradict prior decisions by this Court. The Court of Appeals reviewed the evidence presented at trial in the light most favorable to Sims, not the State. When considering the propriety of charging a lesser-included offense, trial judges must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. See, e.g., State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 572–73, 647 S.E.2d 144, 168 (2005) (stating that, when a defendant requests a lesser-included charge, all the evidence must be viewed in a light most favorable to him); cf. State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429, 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013) (“On appeal, ‘[w]hen reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, this Court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State.’” (citing State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004))).

Further, the Court of Appeals’ opinion focused on Sims’s trial testimony and ignored her prior statements to the 9-1-1 operator and investigating officers; when considering the merit of charging a lesser-included offense such a voluntary manslaughter, a court must review all the

evidence in the record. See, e.g., State v. Lowry, 315 S.C. 396, 399–400, 434 S.E.2d 272, 274 (1993) (“To warrant a court’s eliminating the offense of manslaughter, it should very clear appear that there is no evidence whatsoever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter.”)

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The Court of Appeals erred in finding the trial judge improperly charged the jury on voluntary manslaughter because: (1) the Court of Appeals, by viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Respondent, applied the incorrect standard of review; (2) the court erroneously found the existence of “four walls and a door” between a defendant and the victim are required for a finding of voluntary manslaughter, rather than considering the totality of the facts of the case; (3) the court failed to consider Respondent’s inconsistent statements to the 9-1-1 operator and police officers, both occurring within hours of the shooting; and (4) the testimony of Brown, in which the victim initiated a physical altercation but Respondent armed herself and caused the fatal shooting was “any evidence” justifying the voluntary manslaughter charge.**

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals found the evidence, “taken in the light most favorable to Sims,” did not support the inference that Sims shot Victim in a sudden heat of passion. In reaching this conclusion, the court viewed evidence in the light most favorable to the party *opposing* the charge when it should have viewed the evidence in the light most favorable to the State.

The State notes that South Carolina appellate courts have repeatedly held that, when determining whether evidence requires a charge on voluntary manslaughter, the court must view the facts in the light most favorable to defendant. *E.g., State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 572–73, 647 S.E.2d 144, 168 (2005). However, in each of those cases, the State opposed the requested voluntary manslaughter charge. Because Sims is the party opposing the charge, all facts and inferences should be viewed in the light most favorable to the State. *Cf. State v. Hepburn*, 406 S.C. 416, 429, 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013) (“On appeal, ‘[w]hen reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, this Court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State.’” (citing *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004))).

Such a standard is also in accord with our courts' rulings involving jury charges, which requires juries be instructed on any charge supported by any evidence in the record. See State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 216, 672 S.E.2d 786, 789 (2009) ("If there is any evidence warranting a charge on involuntary manslaughter, then the charge must be given." (emphasis added)); State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 632, 545 S.E.2d 805, 819 (2001) ("If there is any evidence to support a charge, the trial judge should grant the request." (emphasis added)); State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 194, 562 S.E.2d 320, 325 (Ct. App. 2002) ("A trial court has a duty to give a requested instruction that correctly states the law applicable to the issues and which is supported by the evidence. If any evidence exists to support a charge, it should be given." (emphasis added)).

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