RECEIVED

JUN 19 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Op. No. 5631 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 27, 2019)
Appellate Case No. 2019-000840

The State Petitioner,

v.

Heather Elizabeth Sims Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Blake A. Hewitt
BLUESTEIN THOMPSON
SULLIVAN, LLC
P.O. Box 7965
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-7599

L. Morgan Martin
LAW OFFICES OF
L. MORGAN MARTIN
1121 Third Ave.
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 248-3177

B. Alex Hyman
THE HYMAN LAW GROUP
1208 Third Ave.
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 248-2024

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENTS

The decision of the court of appeals is correct. This Court should deny the petition.

First, there is no evidence of heat of passion. The State claimed premeditation. Heather claimed self-defense. Nobody tried to prove Heather had an uncontrollable impulse to do violence. There were two distinct theories of the case. There was no middle ground.

The State wants to infer heat of passion from speculation that Heather might not have been in immediate danger when she shot her husband or that she might have shot him because she was mad. This is wrong. Inferences require more than speculation.

Second, the Court need not even consider the State's argument for certiorari on whether Heather may be tried for involuntary manslaughter. The State's argument to this Court is barred because it did not appear until the State's petition for rehearing.

Even so, the court of appeals correctly denied the State's request to remand for a trial on involuntary manslaughter. There is no evidence of involuntary manslaughter in the record, and even if there was such evidence, the jury found Heather "not guilty." Precedent explains an acquittal is binding absent a limited exception that does not apply here.

I. The court of appeals correctly found no evidence supporting Heather's conviction for voluntary manslaughter.

The court of appeals correctly found no evidence supporting Heather's conviction for voluntary manslaughter. Nobody offered evidence Heather shot her husband because she was mad and she had an uncontrollable impulse to kill him. The trial court's explanations for charging voluntary manslaughter did not even make sense. The State's attempt to justify the verdict during post-trial motions was incorrect as a matter of law.

The State's arguments for certiorari rest on incorrect readings of the opinion and of the record. The court of appeals applied the right standard and considered all the evidence as well as everyone's arguments. This Court should deny the petition for review.

a. Nobody offered evidence of heat of passion or a valid theory of voluntary manslaughter.

Heather's story supports nothing but self defense. At trial, she testified David threatened to physically harm her while brandishing a weapon. Heather said:

I kept backing up, and as I was backing up around the vanity to get back into the bedroom, he said again, I would like to knock your f'ing teeth out of your head, and he lunged at me, and when he did, my hand went up and I shot, and

I shot out of a reaction. I didn't think, nor did I ever want to do that, but it was a reaction because I was scared.

(App.p.1380, line 24 - p.1381, line 5). Nothing in this narrative supports the view that Heather shot because she had an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.

Heather gave the same story to the detectives who interviewed her for an hour and forty minutes while she was in the hospital after the shooting. (App.pp.1771 & 1817). She told them David was threatening her with a knife in her face, (App.p.1777, lines 1-8), that he was swinging the knife, (App.p.1780, lines 42-46), that he threatened to knock her teeth out, (App.p.1784, lines 18-19), and that she shot him as he lunged at her and as she was backing away. (App.p.1780, lines 42-46). There is no uncontrollable impulse there, either.

The State's argument at trial was that none of this happened. (App.p.1511, lines 24-25; p.1617, lines 9-25). The State imagined David told Heather he was leaving her and that Heather responded by trapping an unsuspecting David in the bathroom where she shot him in cold blood. (App.p.1618, line 23 - p.1619, line 13; p.1622, lines 10-15).

The State claimed the gun had not been in the bathroom drawer, but had actually been in the bedside table across the master bedroom and that every step Heather took to get the gun from the bedside table was evidence of premeditation. (App.p.1618, line 23 - p.1620, line 14). And, as noted above, the State claimed Heather's slash wounds, stab wounds, and the bruises on her arms had been self-inflicted. (App.p.1610, line 22 - p.1611, line 20).

None of *that* supports voluntary manslaughter. There is no evidence David was leaving Heather, but even if that had happened, that is not legal provocation. And if Heather had to leave the bathroom to get a gun, *the State* said that showed malice, not heat of passion.

The trial judge said it was charging voluntary manslaughter because it believed Heather testified “she pulled the weapon up and it just kind of went off.” (App.p.1548, lines 10-12). Then, the trial court said it was charging voluntary and involuntary manslaughter even though both parties disagreed with that decision. (App.p.1548, lines 6-24).

There are at least two reasons why the trial court’s explanation does not make sense. First, Heather did not testify that the gun “just kind of went off.” She said she shot her husband “as a reaction” when he charged her and that she shot because she was scared. (App.p.1381, lines 1-5). Heather did not describe having an uncontrollable urge to kill.

Second, one wonders why the court would ever insist on charging lesser-included offenses if the court perceives both parties as telling the court they do not want the charges.

The State’s attempt to justify voluntary manslaughter during post-trial motions was incorrect as a matter of law. There, the State argued that the law required a voluntary manslaughter charge whenever there was evidence of threatening words and an “overt act” by the decedent. (App.p.1744, line 11 - p.1745, line 21). The State also claimed, shockingly, that a jury could infer heat of passion when a husband and wife are in a heated argument “and one of them reaches out to harm the other.” (App.p.1745, lines 14-20).

Both of these contentions seem obviously wrong.

If the decedent spoke threatening words and engaged in threatening acts, that makes a good case for self defense, not manslaughter.

The State’s theory of manslaughter and domestic violence is downright disturbing. It is always possible to speculate that a someone who strikes a fatal blow while defending themselves against an act of domestic violence might be mad as well as scared.

The State conceded on multiple occasions that it never argued in support of the manslaughter charge. (App.p.1741, lines 18-19; p.1745, lines 4-5). As with the trial court giving a charge nobody requested, one wonders why the State would ever insist on charges for a lesser included offence that the State adamantly believes does not apply.

This case is like *State v. Drayton*, where the parties had distinct “theories of the case.” There, the State said the defendant robbed a service station at gunpoint and was guilty of armed robbery. This Court affirmed the trial court’s decision to deny a jury charge on the lesser offense of “robbery,” explaining the defendant’s story was that he never threatened the service station’s cashier or revealed the gun; in other words, the defendant’s version was that he was “innocent of *any* robbery charge.” 293 S.C. 417, 428, 361 S.E.2d 329, 335 (1987). The same is true here. Under the State’s version, the verdict could be nothing but murder. Under Heather’s version, the verdict could be nothing but self defense.

b. The State’s arguments for certiorari rest on incorrect readings of the opinion, precedent, and the record.

The State says the court of appeals applied the wrong standard of review, that the court’s opinion is contrary to precedent, and that there are inconsistencies in Heather’s testimony from which a jury could infer evidence of voluntary manslaughter.

i. The court used the right standard.

The State’s main argument for certiorari is based on its belief that the court of appeals applied the wrong standard of review. Respectfully, this argument misreads the opinion.

The court of appeals said the evidence at trial determines the law to be charged. (App.p.1896) (citing *State v. Gilland*, 402 S.C. 389, 400, 741 S.E.2d 521, 527 (Ct. App.

2012)). The court also said the circuit court must charge a lesser-included offense if there is “any evidence” the defendant committed the lesser offense rather than the greater offense. *Id.* (citing *State v. White*, 361 S.C. 407, 412, 605 S.E.2d 540, 542 (2004)). The court explained the “totality of the evidence” controls whether there is a rational inference the defendant committed the lesser offense. *Id.* (citing *State v. Geiger*, 370 S.C. 600, 607, 635 S.E.2d 669, 673 (Ct. App. 2006)). The court of appeals correctly said a trial court should refuse to give a lesser-included charge when there is no evidence the defendant committed the lesser offense. *Id.* The court also said a contention that the jury might accept part of the State’s evidence and reject part of the State’s evidence will not support a lesser charge. *Id.*

The court of appeals examined Heather’s version of events (App.pp.1903-1904) and the State’s version of events. (App.pp.1904-1910). The court correctly explained Heather’s testimony does not contain any evidence of heat of passion. (App.p.1904). The court also discussed and rejected the State’s argument that heat of passion could be inferred from the evidence of an altercation prior to the shooting. (App.pp.1908-1910).

The State’s argument focuses on two instances where the court of appeals said the facts are viewed in the light most favorable to the defendant when deciding whether to give a charge on a lesser included offense. (App.pp.1896 & 1903). The State says this is wrong and that the facts should be viewed in its favor because Heather opposed the lesser charge.

First, it is hard to see how the State’s argument makes sense. In a case where the competing claims are murder and self-defense, the facts would presumably support murder when viewed in the State’s favor. The facts would presumably support self-defense when viewed in the light most favorable to the defendant.

The language at issue appears to have originated in *State v. Gadsen*, which says “[i]n determining whether the evidence required a charge of voluntary manslaughter, we view the facts in a light most favorable to the defendant.” 314 S.C. 229, 233, 442 S.E.2d 594, 597 (1994). All this language means is that the court views the evidence in the light that mitigates the crime from the greater offense if there is any evidence supporting the lesser crime rather than the greater crime. This is not a summary judgment hearing where the scales are weighted in a party’s favor depending on which party makes the motion.

Second, and as noted previously, the court of appeals did not perform a one-sided analysis. It extensively summarized the State’s case and Heather’s case. It specifically discussed the State’s contention that evidence of a heated argument justified voluntary manslaughter. (App.pp.1908-1910). It specifically mentioned the State’s argument that Heather had given an inconsistent description of the fatal encounter to a friend as well as the State’s speculation that David might have “disengaged” from the assault—an assault he started—before Heather shot him. *Id.* There is no evidence David disengaged, but none of this would be in the opinion if the court of appeals was loading the scales in Heather’s favor.

ii. The court followed precedent.

The court of appeals extensively discussed this Court’s precedent, focusing particularly on three cases—*State v. Starnes*, *State v. Niles*, and *Cook v. State*.

The court of appeals noted this Court’s admonition in *Starnes* that trial courts have struggled with the “the difficult interplay” between murder and voluntary manslaughter when the defendant claims self-defense. (App.p.1897). The court accurately recounted the reasoning and holding in that case, which was that a voluntary manslaughter charge had been

properly denied because the defendant's testimony that he fired the fatal shots out of fear was not evidence that he was out of control or under an uncontrollable impulse to do violence. (App.p.1899) (citing *Starnes*, 358 S.C. 590, 599, 698 S.E.2d 604, 609 (2010)).

The court of appeals correctly described why voluntary manslaughter had been properly denied in *Niles*, a case where a defendant claimed someone shot at him, that he returned fire, and that he shot without looking and was not trying to hit anyone. (App.pp.1900-1901). There, as here, the testimony was that the defendant lacked any criminal intent to harm. (App.p.1901) (citing *Niles*, 412 S.C. 515, 772 S.E.2d 877 (2015)).

And the court of appeals accurately described *Cook*, a case where there was evidence the defendant was trying to leave an altercation, the aggressor was nevertheless pursuing the defendant, and the defendant said "before I knew it, I fired a shot." (App.pp.1901-1902) (citing *Cook*, 415 S.C. 551, 784 S.E.2d 665 (2015)). The court of appeals noted this Court's rejection of the argument that heat of passion could be inferred from the fact that the defendant was in fear, that the defendant shot twice, and from the defendant's statement that he fired "before he knew it." (App.p.1902).

The court of appeals correctly reviewed these cases and noted that the only possible conclusions from the evidence here were that Heather shot her husband intentionally and that "she either shot him with malice aforethought or in self-defense." (App.pp.1903-1904).

The court of appeals discussed and distinguished *State v. Lowry* and *State v. Knoten*. (App.pp.1904-1906). On appeal, the State argued this case was like those cases.

As the court of appeals correctly explained, both of those cases had evidence of active pursuit—a defendant who actively pursued the decedent after the two had been in a heated

confrontation. The court of appeals accurately explained there was no evidence this altercation stopped before the shooting and no evidence Heather pursued David before firing the fatal (and only) shot. (App.p.1906). Heather's testimony supports nothing but self-defense. The State's theory—that David told Heather he was leaving her and that she shot him after leaving the bathroom to get a gun—supports nothing but murder.

iii. The testimony is consistent.

The State says the court of appeals ignored the State's imagined inconsistencies between Heather's trial testimony and the statements she gave to the 9-1-1 operator and the police officers who interrogated her in the hospital.

The court of appeals did not ignore anything. On the second page of the opinion, the court of appeals specifically mentioned "the State presented evidence to show [Heather] gave inconsistent accounts of what happened." (App.p.1887).

The reason the court of appeals did not dwell on the State's argument is that there are no actual inconsistencies between Heather's statements. The full transcript of the hospital interrogation is in the Appendix. (App.pp.1771-1817). Heather's trial testimony about the fatal encounter is in the Appendix as well. (App.p.1375, line 24 - p.1381, line 25). The recording of the 9-1-1 call is on file with the Court.

Heather consistently reported that she shot David as she was backing away from him. (App.p.1380, line 17 - p.1381, line 6) (trial testimony); (App.p.1778, line 24 - p.1779, line 28; p.1784, lines 18-24; p.1788, lines 29-37) (police interrogation). She was specifically asked at trial about telling the 9-1-1 operator David had come at her with a wrench and that the knife was on the floor where David had dropped it. (App.p.1397, lines 2-25; p.1448, line

5 - p.1449, line 20). She consistently explained David had been armed with a knife, that she did not know what happened to the knife after David fell on the floor, and that if the knife had moved after the shooting it was only moved inadvertently while Heather was checking for David's pulse and doing CPR. (App.p.1402, lines 5-20) (trial); (App.p.1792, lines 31-37; p.1801, line 24 - p. 1802, line 3; p.1805, lines 18-28; p.1810, lines 6-45) (police statement).

At trial, one of the police officers who interrogated Heather at the hospital agreed the officers asked her multiple compound questions. (App.p.460, line 19 - p.462, line 11). He also admitted the gist of Heather's statement to the police at the hospital was that David had come at her with a knife. (App.p.471, lines 12-16).

The State says the court of appeals ignored the differences between Heather's testimony and the testimony of Allyson Brown, a friend who said Heather had given her a different description of the fatal encounter shortly after it occurred. In Brown's telling, Heather said David bit her finger to get her phone from her, that Heather then realized she had also been stabbed, that Heather got the gun from the bathroom drawer after realizing she had been stabbed, and that Heather shot David after he threatened to knock her teeth out and lunged at her with the knife. (App.p.942, line 9 - p.943, line 5).

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